MKTG 4890

College of Business Department of Marketing, Logistics, and Operations Management



Table of Contents

I.		Key Information	
	Α.	Course, Time, Location	.3
	В.	Instructor	.3
	c.	Required Text and Readings	.3
	D.	Description	.3
II.		Course Overview	. 4
	Α.	Objectives	
	В.	PhilosophyPhilosophy	.4
	c.	Books/Readings	.5
	D.	Lecture Notes	.5
	Ε.	Discussions	.5
	F.	Case Studies and Multi-Media	.6
	G.	Class Attendance and Participation	.6
III.		Assignments	6
	Α.	Group Case Assignments	
	В.	Individual Assignments	
		1. Personal Branding	
		2. Exit Survey	
		3. SPOT Evaluation	
		4. Research Participation	
	c.	Term Project	.8
IV.		Grading	0
	Α.	Grading Scale	
	ъ. В.	Assignment Formats and Due Dates	
	c.	Extra Credit	
	D.	Grading Appeals, Withdrawals and Incompletes	
		•	
V.		Course Schedule	
VI.		Policies	
	Α.	Academic Integrity	
	В.	Cell Phones and Other Electronic Devices1	
	C.	Americans with Disabilities Act1	
	D.	Changes in Course	2



I. KEY INFORMATION

A. Course, Time, Location MKTG 4890.001, Marketing Capstone

TR 6:00 - 9:50 pm BLB 140

B. Instructor Trond Bergestuen

PhD student/Teaching Fellow Building: BLB, Room 304F Phone: 817-372-8759

Email: trond.bergestuen@unt.edu
Office Hours: By Appointment

C. Required Text and Readings

No required text. Additional readings will be provided by the instructor

during the course of the semester.

D. Description

This course is an important component of UNT's Core Curriculum. This course was designed to bridge the STEM (science, technology, engineering, mathematics) and Business core courses (accounting, finance, management, information systems, and marketing) covered in your program of study with key social and behavioral aspects to provide the students with a holistic and comprehensive understanding of how their degree program knowledge has human and societal impacts. As part of this capstone experience, students will focus on the application of empirical and scientific methods that contribute to the understanding of how the "human activity system" (issues of culture and world view and their impact on learning and working in engineering, science and technology) impacts their STEM and Business knowledge. It is built on a fundamental that the successful development of STEM and Business knowledge is directly contingent on the human activity system. Case studies, academic research, and "real world" project work are used to provide a practical and advanced understanding.



II. COURSE OVERVIEW

This class will be like no other class you have taken at UNT. Students will be working in teams to address some cross-disciplinary problems in a more realist environment. While strongly Team-Based Learning, it will be a clear representation of what you will encounter in "the real world." The course will be conducted by a combination of lectures; in-class discussion; written and oral discussion of case analyses; article discussions and term project. Students will be called upon to discuss assigned topics, readings, cases and concepts.

A. Objectives

The core objectives of this course are:

- 1) Build empirical and scientific constructs both at the application level and strategic level as part of STEM and Business Knowledge.
- 2) Challenge the student to develop critical thinking as an integral part of STEM and Business Knowledge, and how this may impact its strategy, operation, and function in industry and society.

While engaging in this course you will develop and demonstrate the core objectives through the following Key Skills:

Key Skills	Definition
Written Expression	Communicating effectively in writing as appropriate for the needs of the audience.
Oral Expression	Talking to others to convey information effectively.
Teamwork or Collaboration	Adjusting actions in relation to others' actions. Being aware of others' reactions and understanding why they react as they do. Bringing others together and trying to reconcile differences. Persuading others to change their minds or behavior.
Problem Solving/Critical Thinking/Creativity	Developing capacities used to solve novel, ill-defined problems in complex, real-world settings. Using logic and reasoning to identify the strengths and weakness of alternative solutions, conclusions or approaches to problems. The ability to come up with unusual or clever ideas about a given topic or situation, or to develop creative ways to solve a problem.
Judgment/Decision Making	Considering the relative costs and benefits of potential actions to choose the most appropriate one
Attention to Detail	Thoroughness in accomplishing a task through concern for all the areas involved, no matter how small. Monitors and checks work or information and plans and organizes time and resources efficiently.
Organizational Skills	Ability to use your time, energy, resources, etc. in an effective way so that you achieve the things you want to achieve.
Data Analytics and Statistical Analysis	Collection, examination, summarization, manipulation, and interpretation of quantitative data to discover its underlying causes, patterns relationships, and trends.
Leadership	Leverage the strengths of others to achieve common goals, and use interpersonal skills to coach and develop others. The individual is able to assess and manage his/her emotions and those of others; use empathetic skills to guide and motivate; and organize, prioritize, and delegate work.
Initiative	Readiness and ability take action.

B. Philosophy

Tell me and I forget. Teach me and I remember. Involve me and I learn.

Benjamin Franklin



After 20 years as a management consultant and marketing executive, I was asked to give a couple of guest lectures in an MBA program for a university catering to an under-served community in South Dallas. After a couple of guest lectures, I was asked to join as an adjunct instructor and started teaching evening classes in Marketing and International Management, receiving very positive feedback from my students and from other faculty that observed my teaching. Into my second year of teaching undergraduate classes, I made a life changing decision – I was ready to leave my career as a marketing executive and transition into a full-time role in higher education. My background has given me a unique perspective on teaching and implications for what I teach, how I teach and the environment that I want to create in the classroom.

Marketing is all around us

When teaching marketing, I try to relate theory to current news or practice. I also share projects and assignments from my own career as a management consultant and marketing manager/director where I have applied concepts that we discuss in class. This helps the students understand how theory is applied in real life. Furthermore, it can help students identify potential career opportunities that they would like to pursue.

Teaching Method

When I started teaching, I was tied to my slides, and tried to cover everything in the book. This created limited interaction with my students. As I have introduced more problem-solving exercises and case discussions in my classes, I have noticed a big improvement in student engagement. In each class, I find myself moving between the role of a manager, coach, facilitator and co-learner. This creates a dynamic, which provides students with more opportunities for engagement and active learning.

Assessment

Assessment of student performance is more than determining what letter grade to award the students at the end of the semester. Ideally, assessment should motivate the students to achieve their goals and know when they need to adjust their course to reach those goals. I try to give detailed feedback on student papers and projects, pointing out the strengths and suggestions for how their work could be improved. With a clear goal, and strong effort, all students can improve.

Creating an Inclusive and Professional Environment

From my experience in various leadership roles in the corporate world, I have learned the importance of creating an inclusive and professional environment. A sense of concern and encouragement from the leader can provide people with confidence and desire to overcome obstacles. The same is the case for the teacher's role in the classroom. In my communication with the students I communicate in the same way I would communicate to colleagues in the corporate world, training the students to do the same. Having lived and worked in different cultures, I also try to use my background to create an inclusive environment where all students have the same opportunity to be heard, respected and coached to realize their full potential.

C. Books/Readings

Readings will be provided by the instructor. Past experience strongly suggests you will learn much more (and thus perform better) in the class if you have completed the reading assignment before coming to class.

D. Lecture Notes

These are the PowerPoint slides located on Canvas. They will be provided no less than one hour before class, so be prepared to take notes. In any event, I may or may not use them (in whole or part) during a lecture. They are for you to review and absorb. I view them as another reading for you. You will also be responsible for their understanding as it relates to the course content and the lecture topics. I will cover material in addition to the readings and PowerPoint slides during class, so I strongly recommended that you take thorough notes.

E. Discussions

You are encouraged to actively participate in the lectures. For example, if you are not clear about a concept being discussed in the class, please ask questions. I consider asking questions a very important form of class participation. Also, if you have an interesting experience or insight that either supports or contradicts the concept being discussed, please share it with the class. I believe in a "wisdom of the crowds" approach to in-class learning, where the instructor and the student become one in the same.



F. Case Studies and Multi-Media

We will use case studies and multi-media to cultivate innovative thinking on topics related to this class. These discussions will give us, as a class, a chance to exhibit our thinking individually and collectively.

G. Class Attendance and Participation

I hold you responsible for all material covered during class, including changes to the syllabus, course schedule, and course materials. I will not supplement missed lecture material. If you must miss a class, you need to make the necessary arrangements to obtain any missed material or lecture notes from other students in the class. Class attendance is strongly encouraged because you will be called upon to answer questions, discuss case assignments, and to comment on key concepts. Missing these opportunities may result in a reduction in your final grade. Class participation and attendance cannot be made up without prior approval from the instructor.

You are strongly encouraged to attend every class. It is understood that circumstances beyond your control can impact perfect attendance, but every attempt should be made to come to class and be an engaged participant. Class participation will affect the case grades and your final grade. Participation will impact your grade so you are expected to come to class prepared and fully prepared for the in-class case discussions. Case discussions require significant effort and should not be taken lightly. You may be called upon to provide an overview of the case, define the problem, identify key issues and themes, suggest alternatives, discuss the analysis, critique inputs, provide recommendations, and summarize the in-class discussion.

III. ASSIGNMENTS

Every assignment should be completed with a level of effort that you consider to be your BEST. As a Senior, you should fully understand what is your BEST. You should not complete an assignment based on what you think the professor wants, you should deliver a product that represents your BEST effort and fulfills the requirements as specified. So, as long as you do your BEST, the grade does not matter and you will get the grade you deserve.

A. Group Case Assignments

Cases will focus on building and analyzing problems using skills you need to perform or build an understanding of within your major program and the Term Project. These case assignments will require the use of word processing, spreadsheets, other optimization software tools, online media... whatever it takes to do your best.

If you must miss the activities associate with completing these assignments within your group due to work or other unavoidable circumstances, you must contact the professor and the members of your group in advance. If the circumstances merit, the professor will schedule a make-up or provide an alternative to completing the assignment. These situations will occur on an exception basis and must be justified on valid circumstances. In order to be considered for the make-up, you must notify the professor and the group via email before the day the assignment is due, and receive via email permission from the professor and the group that this will be acceptable. Failure to provide notification will result in a failing grade for the assignment.

The group assignment topics will be as follows:

- Critical Thinking
- Defining the Product and Customer
- Pricing, Sales, and Promotion
- Distribution
- SWOT Analysis

B. Individual Assignments

You will have four individual assignments:



1. Personal Branding

We are going to work through an exercise of developing a "2 minute" speech that becomes the quick sell of your personal brand. Posted online are two documents. One document is a template that we will complete in class, but I highly recommend you think about the topics on the template prior to class. The second document is some guidance on preparing a "2 minute" speech about yourself. As a bonus, below is a very cool resource that walks you through an exercise of creating a personal brand. We will not do this in class, but it is a great resource for you to do on your own.

For our "2 minute" speech, you will use the template to create a "2 minute" speech about yourself where the audience is a senior level director for a company you want to work for.

https://www.guicksprout.com/the-complete-guide-to-building-your-personal-brand/

2. Exit Survey

Your success coming out of UNT is correlated to our ability to deliver a quality academic program to you. Thus, we collect some fundamental information from our (soon-to-be) graduates to evaluate the health of our academic program.

3. SPOT Evaluation

I truly value the feedback I receive from students in the classes I teach. It helps me become better at my job and serve the customer (aka the student). I am less concerned about the impact my assessment scores mean to my performance evaluation for the university, but about what they mean to giving the customer a quality product. While you are welcome to visit with me and provide personal, verbal feedback, UNT utilizes the Student Perceptions of Teaching (SPOT) system. To promote (group) participation, there is a point value in the grading for completing the SPOT evaluation. Because I cannot know who completed the evaluations, I cannot know who to award the actual points to individually. Thus, while you will get an individual score for this assignment, it is a group effort that will determine your score:

- If less than 50% of the class completes the SPOT evaluation, everyone in the class will get 0 points.
- If 50-54% of the class completes the SPOT evaluation, everyone in the class will get 2.5 points.
- If 55-59% of the class completes the SPOT evaluation, everyone in the class will get 3.0 points.
- If 60-69% of the class completes the SPOT evaluation, everyone in the class will get 4.0 points.
- If 70-79% of the class completes the SPOT evaluation, everyone in the class will get 4.5 points.
- If greater than 80% of the class completes the SPOT evaluation, everyone in the class will get 5 points.

4. Research Participation

As part of your learning experience in this course, you will be required to participate in research studies conducted by faculty members of the Department of Marketing, Logistics and Operations Management. Your participation in this research will make up 5% of your final class grade.

To fulfil the requirement, you must create an account on the College of Business SONA page—unt-cob.sona-systems.com—which is a web application that allows you to browse available studies. Credit will be assigned based on the length of time the study takes to complete and whether you participate online or in the COB behavioral Lab (BLB 279):

- · Short online studies (5-15 minutes) earn 1 credit
- · Medium online studies (15-30 minutes) earn 2 credits
- · Long online studies (30-45 minutes) earn 3 credits
- · On-campus, lab studies (30-45 minutes) earn 5 credits

To fulfill the 5% course requirement, you must earn a total of 5 SONA credits throughout the semester (i.e., 1 credit = 1 percent of your final grade). All credits earned will be added to your final course grade at the end of the semester. Additional extra credit points may be available at my discretion.



To sign up, please visit unt-cob.sona-systems.com. If you have questions, DO NOT contact me. Contact the behavioral lab manager by email at COB.REP@unt.edu. Your questions will be addressed promptly. Note: Access the studies early and often to make sure you have first access to available studies. Once you sign up, the lab manager will update you periodically about new studies that have been posted. Thanks in advance for your participation!

C. Term Project

Project teams (4-5 students will work on a term project that challenges your domain knowledge and Key Skills, to address a "real" problem. While engaging in the problem through the lens of the human activity system, students will be required to:

- Apply analytical tools useful in their domain
- Analyze the characteristics of the problem and its interrelationships within the company and the human activity system
- Demonstrate skills to analyze technical and social problems
- Demonstrate executive-level communications skills leading to the concise statement of problems and proposed solutions

The team's performance will be evaluated based on a Project Charter, Project Report, and Project Presentation

While this assignment is a team-based activity, individual performance will be considered. Each group member is to provide the professor with an evaluation of their individual performance and of each group member's performance for the final report and presentation grades. This measure allows you to identify the level to which your group members have helped the group. This is your chance to identify and reward/penalize both excellent and poor performance of group members, as well as your own. This is the only grade measurement where you play a role in determining your own grade or of your peers.

Peer evaluations will be performed anonymously using the rating form attached. This rating will be distributed electronically.

The professor will incorporate the peer evaluations as part of your grade for the term project. The following formula will be used to adjust your grade for the project report/presentation:

$$\frac{Individual\ Average}{Team\ Average}\ x\ Team\ Grade = Individual\ Grade$$

The formula allows an individual to receive a grade higher than the team grade if the team members considered the individual's performance to be higher than the other team members. NOTE: assigning high grades to everyone will not help the individuals that performed a disproportionate share of the work. High across-the-board evaluations do not help other team members or provide feedback on how or where to improve team performance.

Performance rating will be based on the following factors

- Quality of work: The degree to which the student team member provides work that is accurate and complete.
- Timeliness of Work/Attendance: The team member's timeliness of work. Showed up as scheduled, completed tasks on time, attendance at the group meetings, etc.
- Task support: The amount of task support the team member gives to other team members.
- Responsibility: The ability of the team member to carry out a chosen or assigned task, the degree to which the member can be relied upon to complete a task.
- Involvement: The extent to which the team member participates in the exchange of information, and relates and communicates to other team members.
- Emotional/motivational support: Consider the amount of emotional/motivational support the member gives to other team members
- Leadership: Consider how the team member engages in leadership activities.
- Overall: The overall performance of the team member while in the group.
 - o Given the opportunity, I would have "fired" this person from our team



- I would want this person in my group again
- This person was the leader of the team
- This person took charge and did a lot of work, but I would not want to work for them.

IV. GRADING

A. Grading Scale

The grading scale is guaranteed. You will receive no less than the grade listed within the appropriate interval. I reserve the right to adjust the grading scale in favor of the class if warranted. The points assigned to each grade comply with the points identified in the UNT Catalog.

Grade	Numeric Range	Grade Point
Α	180-200	4.0
В	160-179	3.0
С	140-159	2.0
D	120-139	1.0
F	≤119	0.0

The potential point value for each assignment is as follows:

Assignment	Pts
Group Case Assignments	50
Critical Thinking	10
Defining the Product and Customer	10
Pricing, Sales, and Promotion	10
SWOT Analysis	10
Distribution	10
Individual Assignments	40
Personal Brand	20
Exit Survey	5
SPOT Evaluation	5
Research Participation	10
Term Project	110
Project Charter	30
Project Report	40
Project Presentation	40
TOTAL	200

B. Assignment Formats and Due Dates

You are expected to approach each assignment with the professionalism required in the "business" world by fulfilling your responsibilities and completing work on time. Work products should have a neat, professional appearance. The appearance of the submission will affect the grading – up to a 20% deduction for submissions deemed to be unprofessional in appearance.

Each assignment is due by the time specified in Canvas. Any assignment may be submitted any time prior to the due date/time. When submitting files electronically, start the file with your last name, e.g.

Sauser_CaseStudy.pdf

A 50% penalty will be assessed for submissions within 24 hours after the assignment is due (one day late). A 100% penalty will be assessed for submissions more than 24 hours after the assignment is due. Correct spelling, grammar, and punctuation are



expected and will be considered in the grading of all assignments. The overall appearance and professionalism of the submission will also be considered in the grade.

C. Extra Credit

There will be no extra credit in this class. Students will not be allowed to resubmit assignments.

D. Grading Appeals, Withdrawals and Incompletes

If you disagree with how any assignment was graded, you must submit a written appeal by email or letter before the start of the next class period. The email or letter must clearly state the rationale for the appeal and provide evidence to support your position. For example, you may cite text references, PowerPoint slides, or outside readings to support your position—these must be clearly referenced by title and page number. The rationale should be objective in nature and should not include subjective opinions. Appeals that do not provide supporting rationale and specific reference(s) to course materials will be returned without consideration.

Please refer to the UNT Catalog for policies governing Withdrawals and Incompletes. If you have any questions, please contact me for clarification. Please note: UNT only allows the use of incomplete for extraordinary circumstances. An incomplete grade will not be used simply to provide more time to complete the course requirements.

V. Course Schedule

Below is a proposed schedule, but this schedule could adjust to accommodate class progress, more in-depth discussion where warranted, or to take advantage of guest speakers or tours if the opportunity should arise. Ultimately, we need to optimize your learning experience via a dynamic and agile learning experience.



Class Date	Topic	Assignment	Due date
9-Jul	Course Introduction Critical Thinking for Problem Solving	The Open Supply Chain (Group)	At the end of class
11-Jul	Project Management and Planning Term Project Presentation	Project Charter (Group)	7/18 @ 11:59pm
16-Jul	Defining the Product and the Customer	Defining the Product and the Customer (Group)	At the end of class
18-Jul	Distribution	Distribution (Group)	At the end of class
23-Jul	Pricing, Sales, and Promotion	Pricing, Sales, and Promotion (Group)	At the end of class
25-Jul	Competitor Analysis	SWOT (Group)	At the end of class
30-Jul	Personal Branding and Professional Network	Personal Branding (Individual)	At the end of class
1-Aug	NO CLASS		
6-Aug	FINAL PRESENTATIONS	Project Report (Group) Powerpoint presentation (Group)	8/6 @ 12:00pm
8-Aug	NO CLASS		



VI. POLICIES

A. Academic Integrity

Cheating, plagiarism, or other inappropriate assistance on examinations, abstracts, or cases will be treated with **zero tolerance** and will result in a grade of "F" for the course. Any work should be solely your effort with ABSOLUTELY NO outside help or assistance. Students must be familiar with and adhere to the University's Academic Integrity policies. A dedicated website for this information can be found at: http://vpaa.unt.edu/academic-integrity.htm

To steal and pass off (the ideas or words of another) as one's own is plagiarism. If you quote or reference other's material, you must cite your sources. Cutting and pasting from other sources, even if properly footnoted does not meet the criterion of submitting your own work and will result in a failing grade for the course. According to University policy, if you become aware of any misconduct related to academic integrity, you should inform me or another proper authority such as the Department Chair or Associate Dean.

B. Cell Phones and Other Electronic Devices

All cellular or digital phones, pagers, and laptops are to be turned off during class. Failure to comply with this request will result in a letter grade deduction to the final grade if repeated. Laptop usage to investigate additional information during class will be encouraged at the discretion of the instructor.

C. Americans with Disabilities Act

The College of Business Administration complies with the Americans with Disabilities Act in making reasonable accommodations for qualified students with a disability. If you have an established disability as defined in the Act and would like to request accommodation, please see me as soon as possible. I can be contacted at the location and phone number shown in this syllabus. Please note: University policy requires that students notify their instructor within the first week of class when an accommodation will be needed. Please do not hesitate to contact me now or in the future if you have any questions or if I can be of assistance.

D. Changes in Course

The schedule, policies, and assignments contained in this course syllabus are subject to change in the event of extenuating circumstances, class progress, or by mutual agreement between the instructor and the students. All changes will be announced in class prior to the change with a posted change to the syllabus placed on Canvas.